IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-694

JOHN K. VREELAND, Administrator Ad Litem for the Estate of JOSE MARTINEZ, and the personal representative of the Estate of JOSE MARTINEZ, deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

AEROLEASE OF AMERICA, INC.,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WAGNER, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A. 601 Bayshore Blvd., Suite 910 Tampa, FL 33606

-and-

PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

By: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No. 203513

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The appellant, John K. Vreeland, administrator ad litem for the estate of Jose Martinez and the personal representative of the estate of Jose Martinez, deceased, was the plaintiff below in a wrongful death action against Aerolease of America, Inc. (and others not relevant here), the owner/lessor of an aircraft in which the plaintiff's decedent was killed when the aircraft crashed shortly after takeoff from Lakeland Linder Regional Airport on January 15, 2005 (A. 1).^{1/} Aerolease was sued for negligent maintenance and inspection of the aircraft before it was leased, and vicariously -- under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" -- for the negligence of the pilot of the aircraft. Although both of these remedies are available to the plaintiff under Florida law, the trial court concluded that Aerolease was absolutely immune from suit as a matter of federal law. The issue on appeal below -- whether the Federal Aviation Act preempts the remedies provided to the plaintiff by Florida tort law -- arose out of the following procedural and factual background.

The plaintiff's Third Amended Complaint (A. 1) alleges in pertinent part that Aerolease negligently maintained and inspected the aircraft before offering it for sale or lease; that the aircraft was thereafter leased to Danny Ferrer in a

 $^{^{\}perp}$ By agreement of the parties, appendices were utilized in lieu of the original record below. A. refers to the appendix filed by the appellant/petitioner, which has been transmitted to this Court by the district court.

defective and unairworthy condition; that the aircraft was being piloted by Donald Palas; that Jose Martinez was a passenger in the aircraft; that because of the aircraft's defective mechanical condition, it became unstable and uncontrollable shortly after takeoff and crashed, killing Mr. Martinez.

The complaint contains three counts against Aerolease. Count I alleges that, pursuant to Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine," Aerolease was liable to the plaintiff for the negligence of Mr. Palas in his operation of the aircraft (A. 5). Count II alleges that Aerolease maintained and inspected the aircraft and then leased it to Mr. Ferrer in a defective and unairworthy condition, and that its negligent maintenance and inspection was a cause of the crash (A. 5-6). Count III alleges that Aerolease intentionally published known false information concerning the condition of the aircraft in order to induce Mr. Ferrer to lease the aircraft (A. 6). The complaint contains additional counts against other defendants, but they are not in issue here.

Aerolease moved for summary judgment, contending that 49 U.S.C. §44112 preempts the plaintiff's state law remedies, and that it was immune from suit because it was not in possession or control of the aircraft it owned at the time of the crash (A. 13 *et seq.*) The motion also contended that the evidence developed to date was insufficient to support the allegations of Count III of the complaint (A. 33 *et seq.*). The plaintiff opposed the motion (A. 44 *et seq.*). The trial court concluded that Aerolease was the owner of the aircraft; that it was not in possession or control of the aircraft when it crashed; that 49 U.S.C. §44112 preempted the plaintiff's state law remedies altogether; and that Aerolease was therefore entitled to judgment in its favor since the Federal Aviation Act provided the plaintiff with no remedies at all (A. 52-54). Plaintiff moved for reconsideration (A. 55-59). The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration and entered a summary final judgment in Aerolease's favor (A. 60-61). A timely appeal followed.

To the extent that the judgment disposed of Count III of the complaint, we did not challenge it below. However, we did contend that the trial court erred in concluding that federal law preempts the state law remedies alleged in Counts I and II of the complaint. The district court agreed with our contention that federal law did not preempt the claim alleged in Count II for negligent maintenance and inspection, and it reversed the summary judgment with respect to that Count. But it affirmed the summary judgment on Count I for vicarious liability under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine," concluding that it was preempted by 49 U.S.C. §44112. It acknowledged that the handful of decisions that existed on the point were in considerable disarray and it purported to resolve their differences by referring to the "legislative history" it found in H.R. Rep. 80-2091, 1948 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1836, 1948 WL 1816.

In the process, the district court was required to "distinguish" this Court's decision in *Orefice v. Albert*, 237 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1970), which holds that victims

-3-

of aircraft accidents have viable claims against aircraft owners under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine." This Court accepted jurisdiction to resolve the express and direct conflict between the district court's decision and *Orefice v*. *Albert*. In the argument that follows, we hope to demonstrate that the language of the statute, its legislative history, and subsequently enacted provisions of the Federal Aviation Act require a conclusion contrary to that reached by the district court.

II. ISSUE ON REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT FLORIDA'S "DANGEROUS **INSTRUMENTALITY** DOCTRINE." WHICH VICARIOUS LIABILITY IMPOSES **UPON** AIRCRAFT **OWNERS** FOR NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF AN AIRCRAFT, IS PREEMPTED BY **FEDERAL** LAW AND **THEREFORE** UNENFORCEABLE.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Our argument will be brief enough that to summarize it here would amount to little more than unnecessary repetition, at the Court's expense. Respectfully requesting the Court's indulgence, we turn directly to the merits.

IV. ARGUMENT

THEDISTRICTCOURTERREDINCONCLUDINGTHATFLORIDA'S"DANGEROUSINSTRUMENTALITYDOCTRINE,"WHICHIMPOSESVICARIOUSLIABILITYUPON

AIRCRAFT OWNERS FOR NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF AN AIRCRAFT, IS PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW AND THEREFORE UNENFORCEABLE.

(Standard of review: *de novo*)

A. Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine."

Nearly a century ago, this Court announced that a motor vehicle is a dangerous instrumentality, and that the public policy of Florida required that an owner be financially responsible for damages caused by one to whom the vehicle has been entrusted. *Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (1920). In that paradigm context at least, that has been the public policy of this state for the last 90 years. *See Michlek v. Shumate*, 524 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1988).

The question of whether an owner who has *leased* a vehicle to another is liable under the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" was answered by this Court 63 years ago in *Lynch v. Walker*, 159 Fla. 188, 31 So.2d 268 (1947). The Court squarely held that commercial owner/lessors *are* subject to the doctrine, and it drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases. The question recurred in *Fleming v. Alter*, 69 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1954). The Court stuck to its guns: "To hold that liability would be limited to damage caused by the bailee alone where a dangerous instrumentality is put in circulation in such fashion would be entirely beyond our conception of the responsibility one should assume where he is in the business of entrusting vehicles of such character to another for a

price." 69 So.2d at 186. Once again, the Court drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases.

The question was decided again in *Susco Car Rental System of Florida v*. *Leonard*, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959). Once again, the Court refused to budge. In response to the owner/lessor's contention that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" should not apply because an owner/lessor relinquishes "possession and control" of the vehicle under a commercial lease, the Court responded, "... when control of such a vehicle is voluntarily relinquished to another, only a breach of custody amounting to a species of conversion or theft will relieve an owner of responsibility for its use or misuse." 112 So.2d at 835-36. Once again, the Court drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases.

This Court also made it clear in *Susco* that the question of who has "possession and control" of a vehicle is ultimately an irrelevant question, because the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" is simply a rule of public policy creating an additional layer of financial responsibility for the protection of the traveling public:

There can be no doubt from current statistics that the dangerous character of motor vehicles has become more obvious than when originally so denominated by this Court, and the number and complexity of police regulations has vastly increased. But just as was noted at the outset in this jurisdiction, it has been the legislative view that the public interest requires more than regulation of operation, and that safety regulations can never, in fact, eliminate the enormous risks involved. Responsibility under the law was accordingly attached to *ownership* of these instrumentalities, evinced first by registration laws and now by numerous provisions to assure financial responsibility of owners. It is plain that these provisions are based on the assumption that an owner cannot deliver a vehicle into the hands of another without assuming, or continuing, his full responsibility to the public....

112 So.2d at 837 (emphasis in original).

The issue arose again in *Roth v. Old Republic Insurance Co.*, 269 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1972). The Court reaffirmed *Susco*, and drew no distinction whatsoever

between long-term leases and short-term leases. The issue arose again in Meister

v. Fisher, 462 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1984). The Court held as follows:

... In the instant case, the country club had rented the golf car to Fisher. However, this factor does not call for a different result, since in Florida the [dangerous instrumentality] doctrine clearly extends to and encompasses the bailment relationship. *See Lynch v. Walker*, 139 [sic] Fla. 188, 31 So.2d 268 (1947).

Although the bailment in question was obviously a short-term bailment, the Court

mentioned no distinction between short-term leases and long-term leases.

And, as recently as 1990, this Court reaffirmed the long line of authority cited above, as follows:

Enterprise Leasing *correctly* notes that it remained liable, as owner of the vehicle, for injuries to third parties as a result of the negligent operation of the vehicle under Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine despite a contractual provision in the lease prohibiting [the lessee] from allowing others to use the car...

Enterprise Leasing Co. v. Almon, 559 So.2d 214, 215 (Fla. 1990) (emphasis supplied). Once again, the Court drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases.

Not surprisingly, this public policy has been applied to the ownership of aircraft as well, and it has long been the law in Florida that, because an aircraft is a dangerous instrumentality, the owner of an aircraft is liable for its negligent operation, whether it is in possession or control of it at the time or not. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit reached this conclusion under Florida law nearly 60 years ago in *Grain Dealers Nat. Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Harrison*, 190 F.2d 726 (5th Cir. 1951). This Court followed suit 40 years ago in *Orefice v. Albert*, 237 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1970). The question presented here is whether a federal statute that was on the books at the time both *Grain Dealers* and *Orefice* were decided prohibits Florida from providing this layer of financial responsibility to victims of negligently caused aircraft accidents under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine."

B. The federal statute and its legislative history.

Although application of Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" to aircraft owners went unchallenged for nearly 60 years, the district court concluded, in effect, that *Grain Dealers* and *Orefice v. Albert* were wrongly

-8-

decided. It purported to find an absolute prohibition against application of the doctrine in 49 U.S.C. §44112, which reads as follows:

(b) Liability -- A lessor, owner, or secured party is liable for personal injury, death, or property loss or damage *on land or water* only when a civil aircraft, aircraft engine, or propeller is in the actual possession or control of the lessor, owner, or secured party, and the personal injury, death, or property loss or damage occurs because of --

(1) the aircraft, engine, or propeller; or

(2) the flight of, or an object falling from, the aircraft, engine, or propeller.

(Emphasis supplied; the reason for the emphasis will become clearer as we proceed). Curiously, this provision appears in Chapter 441 of Title 49, entitled "Registration and Recordation of Aircraft." (Its unusual placement there may also become clearer as we proceed.)

If this were the *only* statute in the Federal Aviation Act (and if the critical qualifying words "on land or water" are ignored), the district court's reading of it would at least be understandable, but statutes do not exist in a vacuum. They must be read in the context of the entire Act -- and their history, their purpose, the intent of the legislative body that enacted them, and the decisional law interpreting them must be considered as well. *See Lee v. CSX Transportation Inc.*, 958 So.2d 578 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). And we are confident that, once we have explored these several things, the Court will be convinced that this particular "Registration and Recordation" statute was not meant to prohibit states from providing financial

responsibility remedies against aircraft owners to passenger victims of negligently caused aircraft accidents.

We begin our survey of the statute's context, its history, its purpose, its intent, and the decisional law construing it when Congress enacted the Civil Aeronautics Act of 1938. The Act contained a provision stating that anyone who authorizes the operation of an aircraft in the capacity of an owner or lessee is deemed to be engaged in the operation of the aircraft. 49 U.S.C. §1301(26). Aviation accident victims then began relying upon this provision to argue that it *created* vicarious liability, as a matter of *federal* law, upon owners for negligent operation by a bailee -- and some of these arguments prevailed. *See* the decisions collected in §4 of Annotation, *Provision of Federal Aviation Act (49 U.S.C.A. § 14302(26)) that any person who causes or authorizes operation of aircraft shall be deemed to engage in operation, as basis for vicarious liability or for imputing pilot's negligence to owner in action arising out of aircraft accident, 11 A.L.R. Fed. 901 (1972).*

Because Congress had not intended to *create* vicarious liability in those states that did not afford this remedy to aircraft accident victims, it added the following provision to the Act in 1948 (as amended in minor respect in 1959):

Limitation of Security Owners' Liability:

No person having a security interest in, or security title to, any civil aircraft, aircraft engine, or propeller under contract of conditional sale, equipment trust, chattel, or corporate mortgage, or other instrument of similar nature, and no lessor of any such aircraft, aircraft engine, or propeller under a bona fide lease of thirty days or more, shall be liable by reason of such interest or title, or by reason of his interest as lessor or owner of the aircraft, aircraft engine, or propeller so leased, for any injury to or death of persons, or damage to or loss of property, *on the surface of the earth (whether on land or water)* caused by such aircraft, aircraft engine, or propeller, or by the ascent, descent, or flight of such aircraft, aircraft engine, or propeller or by the dropping or falling of an object therefrom, unless such aircraft, aircraft engine, or propeller is in the actual possession or control of such person at the time of such injury, death, damage, or loss.

49 U.S.C. §1404 (1959), quoted in Rogers v. Ray Gardner Flying Service, Inc., 435 F.2d 1389, 1392, 11 A.L.R. Fed. 891 (5th Cir. 1970) (emphasis supplied).^{2/} The legislative history provided for this statute is illuminating. A copy of H.R. Rep. 80-2091, 1948 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1836, 1948 WL 1816, is included in the appendix to this brief for the convenience of the Court. The report makes it clear that the statute was (1) directed at two things, and (2) narrowly drawn (3) for a singular purpose.

According to the House Report, the legislation was directed at two "provisions of present law . . . §1(26) of the Civil Aeronautics Act of 1938 and section 5 of the Uniform Aeronautics Act." And there can be no question that the statute was designed to reject those decisions that had held that 49 U.S.C.

 $^{^{2/}}$ The 1959 amendment added aircraft propellers and engines to the original 1948 law, which only addressed the aircraft itself. *See* 1959 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1762.

\$1301(26) had created vicarious liability upon aircraft owners, as a matter of federal law, in those states that did not afford this remedy to aircraft accident victims. That was the conclusion reached in perhaps the leading decision on the subject, by the Fifth Circuit in Rogers v. Ray Gardner Flying Service, Inc., supra. And Rogers was subsequently followed on the same point -- that 49 U.S.C. \$1301(26) does not *create* vicarious liability upon aircraft owners in states which do not recognize the remedy -- in Lockwood v. Astronautics Flying Club, Inc., 437 F.2d 437, 439 (5th Cir. 1971) ("in *Rogers* we held that the Federal Aviation Act did not create a federal cause of action against the owner where none existed under state law"); McCord v. Dixie Aviation Corp., 450 F.2d 1129 (10th Cir. 1971) (same); Sanz v. Renton Aviation, Inc., 511 F.2d 1027 (9th Cir. 1975) (same). This aspect of the legislation therefore did not address the different question presented here -- whether Congress intended to prohibit states from providing financial responsibility remedies against aircraft owners to passenger victims of negligently caused aircraft accidents.

According to the House Report, the 1948 Act *did* address a state law that had been adopted in at least 10 states, §5 of the Uniform Aeronautics Act, but it was a narrowly drawn statute:

The owner of every aircraft which is operated over the lands or the waters of this State is absolutely liable for injuries to persons or property *on the land or water beneath*, caused by the ascent, descent, or flight of the aircraft, or the dropping or falling of any object

therefrom, whether such owner was negligent or not, unless the injury is caused in whole or in part by the negligence of the person injured, or of the owner or bailee of the property injured. If the aircraft is leased at the time of the injury to persons or property, both owner and lessee shall be liable, and they may be sued jointly or either or both of them may be sued separately.

(Emphasis supplied).

Congress' objection to this provision of the Uniform Aeronautics Act was

the following:

This provision thus imposes absolute liability on owners of aircraft for damage caused on the surface of the earth. It is susceptible of a construction which would impose liability upon any person registered as owner, even though he holds title only as security under a mortgage or similar security instrument or as lessor under an equipment trust. If such interpretation were adopted, the security title holder could become liable for extensive damages on the surface caused by the operation of the aircraft. An owner in possession or control of aircraft, either personally or through an agent, should be liable for damages caused. A security owner not in possession or control of the aircraft, however, should not be liable for such damages. This bill would make it clear that this generally accepted rule applies and assures the security owner or lessee [sic], that he would not be liable when he is not in possession or control of the aircraft.

(Emphasis supplied).

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