A-57305-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

JOHN K. VREELAND, Administrator Ad Litem for the Estate of JOSE MARTINEZ, and the Personal Representative of the Estate of JOSE MARTINEZ, Deceased, CASE NO. SC10-694 L.C. CASE NO. 2D08-248

Petitioner,

vs.

AEROLEASE OF AMERICA, INC., a corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AEROLEASE OF AMERICA, INC.,

Shelley H. Leinicke, Esquire WICKER, SMITH, O'HARA, McCOY & FORD, P.A. Counsel for Respondent 515 E. Las Olas Boulevard SunTrust Center, Suite 1400 P.O. Box 14460 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33302 Phone: (954) 847-4800 Fax: (954) 760-9353

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

actual possession or control of an aircraft it leased to Chalks, the plaintiffs could not pursue any claim of vicarious liability against Seaplane.

Vreeland has attempted to distance his position from some of these on-point federal court opinions by arguing that these are "single judge" decisions, trying to imply that they are somehow "rogue" or inaccurate analyses of the issue. No doubt Vreeland would describe these same opinions as "learned" if they had agreed with his position, as evidenced by his description of the "thoughtful analysis of the issue" that appears in the unreported, single-judge decision of *Coleman v. Windham*, 2005 WL 1793907 (R.I. Super. 2005). In the unpublished Coleman opinion, the aircraft that crashed was rented for a single day (to practice take-off and landing procedures) and thus fell outside of the 30-day minimum lease established by § 44112. Id. at *6. Moreover, the court only reached its result because it used a flawed and tortured analysis and did not apply the plain language of the statute and intent of Congress.

Vreeland agrees that his position regarding the scope of § 44112 was rejected in the case of *Mangini v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, 2005 WL 3624483 (Conn. Super. 2005). Vreeland attempts to distance himself from that decision by characterizing the court as relying on "truncated snippets of the statue and the cases" but fails to note that all *relevant* and *material* portions

33

of the statutes and cases are quoted within that decision. After careful analysis of the legislative history of § 44112 the court determined that there was a "'clear and manifest' purpose to supersede state and local authority." *Id.* at *6.

The *Mangini* case also explains why Vreeland is wrong in suggesting that Congress did not intend to preempt state laws under the Uniform Aeronautics Act of 1938 when it enacted 49 U.S.C. § 1404 that later was recodified as 49 U.S.C. § 44112. *Mangini* carefully analyzes the language of §1404, explains how it specifically applies to bar vicarious liability of aircraft lessors, and how it directly and/or implicitly includes a prohibition of vicarious liability claims against aircraft owners. *Id.* at *2-3. The *Mangini* court traces how the specific language used in § 44112 clearly applies to preclude vicarious liability claims against *either* owners *or* lessors of aircraft no matter how the predecessor statute was worded. If one assumes, *arguendo*, that the wording of § 1404 is ambiguous, the court resolves the question by stating:

Repealing 49 U.S.C. § 1404 and replacing it with 49 U.S.C. § 44112 may be seen as a response to the confusion and ambiguity created by the language of the former statute. In this sense, 49 U.S.C. § 44112 *simply clarifies* that the word "owner" in 49 U.S.C. § 1404 was meant literally and was not confined to mean holders of security interests only. The clarification accomplished this by listing three classes of exempt persons in series with equal grammatical position and statute, viz. "lessor,

owner, or secured party," and by specifically defining each class, including a definition of "owner" which omits any connection to security interest and instead declares an owner to be one who "owns a civil aircraft, engine, or propellor." [sic] ... By taking hold of the legislative admonitions that no substantive change was intended, one can infer that 49 U.S.C. § 1404 was always designed to include the owners that 49 U.S.C. § 44112 so clearly and definitely describes. This approach effectuates the plain text of 49 U.S.C. § 44112 while comporting with the legislative statements surrounding its enactment.

Mangini, supra, at *3-4. If, on the other hand, one assumes that the wording

of § 1404 was less inclusive than § 44112, the court resolves the issue by

explaining:

The inclusion of all owners of aircraft within the list of entities entitled to liability protection under 49 U.S.C. § 44112 "is a change too clearly apparent to disregard." Assuming, arguendo, that the earlier version, 49 U.S.C. § 1404, excluded owners from its protection, then 49 U.S.C. § 44112 clearly expresses a substantive change sufficient to rebut the presumptions against such construction.

Mangini, supra, at *5. The opinion then concludes:

The most compelling argument for preemption are the House and Senate Reports concerning the passage of 49 U.S.C. § 1404 in 1948. "Provision of present Federal and *State law* might be construed to impose upon persons … liability …' *Rosdail v*. *Western Aviation, Inc.,* [297 F.Supp. 681 (D.C. Col. 1969)] at 685. (Emphasis added by the *Mangini* court) "*This bill would remove this doubt by providing clearly that such persons have no liability*

..." *id.* Thus, Congress announced that it intended 49 U.S.C. § 1404 and its present version, 49 U.S.C. § 44112, to preempt state law and to exempt from liability those persons who met the other criteria of those statutes.

Mangini, supra, at *6.

Vreeland misplaces reliance on the two other cases he cites as support for his position. Storie v. Southfield Leasing, Inc., 282 N.W.2d 417 (Mich. App. 1979), aff'd sub nom. Sexton v. Ryder Truck Rental, 320 N.W. 843 (Mich. 1982) agrees that "to the extent ... [the Michigan state law] would impose liability for such an injury or loss upon the lessor of the airplane, the statute directly conflicts with federal law and is preempted by it." Storie, 282 N.W.2d at 421. The issue of federal preemption was relegated to one terse phrase in footnote 2 of the Sexton opinion and was never analyzed by the Michigan Supreme Court. Though the Michigan district court had a minimally longer discussion of this point, it failed to consider the legislative history and intent from the time of the 1938 Civil Aeronautics Act through § 1404. It also said the deaths caused by this airplane crash were outside the scope of § 1404 preemption (not § 44112, which clarified the scope of relief from vicarious liability claims) because the "injury occurred inside the aircraft and not upon the surface of the earth" (Storie 282 N.W.2d at 421) even though the injury occurred when the plane hit the ground and was a direct result of the "ascent, descent, or flight of such aircraft." This construction of perhaps some inartful language in § 1404 (which was clarified in § 44112(b) to cover anything occurring because of the aircraft or its flight) leads to the nonsensical, if not absurd finding that Congress intended to preempt injuries and deaths "on the surface of the earth" only if a person situate on the surface of the earth is struck by an aircraft. *Storie/Sexton's* holding was not only simply wrong, it cannot apply here because the complete federal preemption of vicarious liability claims was clarified in § 44112 so as to leave no doubt that any lessor, owner, or secured party who is not in possession of the aircraft at the time of the incident is not subject to vicarious liability. Furthermore, there is nothing in the legislative histories showing an intent to retreat from the original intent of preemption of liability for accidents caused by or arising out of the "ascent, descent, or flight" of aircraft within the scope of the statute as set forth in § 504 of the Civil Aeronautics Act of 1938.

Vreeland's reliance on the case of *Retzler v. Pratt & Whitney Co.*, 309 Ill. App.3d 906, 723 N.E.2d 345, 243 Ill. Dec. 313 (1999) fares no better. The *Retzler* decision, which relied on *Sexton/Storie*, grounded its opinion on the complicated method of ownership of the aircraft used for an American Eagle flight where the lease was not reduced to writing until long after the incident occurred and suit had been filed.¹⁴ *Id.* at 910, 916. The *Retzler* court distinguished its facts from *Matei, supra,* by saying that "the defendant in *Matei* was merely the owner of the aircraft. In the present case, defendant AMR sold the aircraft to MB and also leased the aircraft to Simmons." *Id.* at 916. The facts of the instant case follow *Matei* (both as to the ownership and airworthiness of the aircraft) and therefore are equally distinguishable from *Retzler*.

Not only is federal preemption and prohibition of vicarious liability claims against aircraft lessors plain and unambiguous in the wording of § 44112, it parallels the rationale for federal preemption of vicarious liability claims against automobile lessors established by the Graves Amendment. Florida has been one of a minority of states whose common law imposed strict vicarious liability for operation of a motor vehicle on the basis of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, starting with *Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 80 So.629, 631 (Fla. 1920).

Vreeland's limited historical focus in the application of this doctrine to aircraft is precisely why the case of *Orefice v. Albert*, 237 So.2d 142, 145

¹⁴ ATR first sold the aircraft to AAMR. AMR immediately sold the plane to MB (a French company) who then leased it back to AMR. AMR then sub-leased the plane to Simmons by an oral agreement that was reduced to writing more than two years after the accident and approximately two weeks after Retzler's suit was filed. *Id.* at 910.

(Fla. 1970) does *not* conflict with the instant decision and the application of federal preemption under § 44112: federal preemption as required by § 44112 (or its predecessors) was simply never considered in Orefice. The instant district court decision points out that "[a]lthough 49 U.S.C. § 1404 was in effect at that time, the Orefice court did not mention or discuss it." (*Vreeland*, 906 So.3d at 912). This is not surprising, especially given the fact that the "Orefice court's ruling that the dangerous instrumentality law imposed vicarious liability on owners of aircraft ... based in part" on a state licensing statute that has since been repealed. Vreeland, 28 So.3d at 912. Because of this, the instant case is not in conflict with Orefice and the preemption provision of § 44112 – which was enacted in 1994, over two decades *after* the *Orefice* decision – must apply to bar the vicarious liability claim against Aerolease.

Vreeland cannot defeat federal preemption by arguing that the claims against Aerolease arise "solely" under Florida statutory or common law. The United States Supreme Court has long held that exercise of federal question jurisdiction over federal issues in state law claims is not avoided "simply because they appear in state raiment." *Grable & Sons Metal Products, Inc. v Darue Engineering & Manufacturing*, 125 S.Ct. 2363, 2368 (2005); Nicodemus v. Union Pacific Corp., 440 F.3d 1227, 1232 (10th Cir. 2006) (though a plaintiff asserts only a claim under state law, federal question jurisdiction may be appropriate if the state-law acclaims implicate significant federal issues); *Christianson v. Colt Industries Operating Corp.*, 108 S.Ct. 2166 FN3 (1988) ("merely because a claim makes no reference to federal patent law does not necessarily mean the claim does not 'arise under' patent law. Just as 'a plaintiff may not defeat removal by omitting to plead necessary federal questions in a complaint,' ... so a plaintiff may not defeat §1338(a) jurisdiction by omitting to plead necessary federal patent law questions").

<u>Aerolease is entitled to summary judgment on the negligence claim</u>

Based on the facts and record, the instant trial court was equally correct in granting summary judgment on Vreeland's claim of negligent inspection of the aircraft prior to the sale because that claim arises out of the "as-is" lease agreement. Even ignoring the application of § 44112 to the negligence claim of this lessor-not-in-possession, the facts of this case unequivocally establish that (1) this aircraft was leased to Ferrer "as is," (2) it was flown across the United States without incident, (3) the long-term lessee (Ferrer) assumed all liability for inspection, repair, and maintenance of the aircraft, (4) SkyBlue and its federally licensed airframe and powerplant mechanics were the entities Ferrer hired to inspect, repair, and

deliver the aircraft to Ferrer in airworthy condition, and (5) Ferrer relied on the representations of SkyBlue, which certified the plane for service as airworthy. The trial court properly recognized that Aerolease could not be vicariously liable for any actions or inactions of SkyBlue, SkyBlue's mechanics, Ferrer, or Ferrer's mechanic, none of whom were hired or controlled by Aerolease, in the inspection and/or maintenance of the aircraft. The trial court further recognized that because Ferrer was not in or operating the aircraft at the time of the accident that there could be no claim against Aerolease based on a theory of breach of the "as-is" contract, and indeed, Ferrer could only rely on the results of his prebuy inspection by SkyBlue in deciding to lease this aircraft. Logically, if Aerolease could be vicariously liable – despite Aerolease's complete absence of control for the condition of the aircraft – then the chain of liability for previous owners, lessors, or lessees would go back as far as a theory could be marshaled concerning the existence of an alleged defect in the aircraft.

Under the narrow, "as is" terms of Aerolease's contract with Ferrer, Aerolease had no duty relating to the status of the aircraft – even before Ferrer contracted with SkyBlue to inspect the aircraft for airworthiness, perform certain repairs, and fly it across the country – and therefore could have no duty to anyone "downstream" from Ferrer. *Florida Power Corp. v.*

41

McCain, 593 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1992) (existence of duty is a matter of law for the court); *see also: Tanner v. Rebel Aviation, Inc.*, 245 S.E.2d 463 (Ga. App. 1978) (former owners of aircraft who allegedly were negligent in its maintenance had no liability for its condition); *Jarmuth v. Aldridge*, 747 N.E. 2d 1014 (Ill. 1st DCA 2001) (Part 91¹⁵ aircraft owner is not responsible for work of licensed repair facility); *White v. Orr Leasing, Inc.*, 436 S.E. 2d 693 (Ga. App. 1993); *Cosgrove v. McDonnell Douglas Helicopter Co.*, 847 F.Supp. 719 (Minn. App. 1994) (aircraft owner is not responsible for acts of licensed mechanics or authorized pilots).

Where no representations about the aircraft were made by Aerolease to Ferrer, it makes no logical or legal sense for Aerolease to have liability for the condition of the aircraft after under the facts of this case. Vreeland is asking this Court not only to hold Aerolease liable for the work of an independent contractor (SkyBlue), but also wants Aerolease to be liable for SkyBlue's work when *Ferrer* hired this independent contractor, dictated the scope of work done by SkyBlue, and relied upon SkyBlue's certification pursuant to federal aviation regulations. Furthermore, Vreeland improperly posits that Aerolease, as the owner/lessor of this general aviation aircraft,

¹⁵ The instant aircraft falls under Part 91 rather than Part 121, which applies to commercial aircraft.

even where the inspections and maintenance were performed by non-Aerolease, federally licensed professionals.

If the provisions of § 44112 are considered in answering the negligence claim against Aerolease, they are supportive of the summary judgment. 49 U.S.C. § 44112(b) states that an owner or lessor who is not in actual possession or control of the aircraft has no liability for "personal injury, death, or property damage or loss occur[ing] because of (1) the aircraft, engine, or propeller, or (2) the flight of, or an object falling from, the aircraft, engine, or propeller." In the Ellis v. Flying Boat case, supra, the complaint alleged that the aircraft was negligently leased in a dangerous and defective condition because it "had not undergone a proper, safe and sufficient aging aircraft overhaul program, that was beyond its safe operational life expectancy; that was comprised of structures that were fatigued, cracked, corroded and otherwise in conditions that were likely to lead to failure of the aircraft's structure, and/or that lacked proper and adequate instructions for the inspection, maintenance and repair damage tolerance assessments of the aircraft." (AA. 1 at Ex. G p. 9) The federal district court ruled that because the lessor did not have "actual possession or control of the aircraft when the accident occurred," § 44112 "shields Seaplane from liability for Plaintiffs' losses." (AA. 1 at Ex. E p. 2) The

43

same result should occur here whether the Court relies on § 44112 or the facts of this case. *Dade County School Board v. Radio Station WQBA*, 731 So 2d 638 (Fla. 1999).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the instant case does not conflict with the decision in *Orefice v. Albert*, 237 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1970).

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